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Chairman Conklin:
[Roll called.] We will open the hearing on Senate Bill 72 (1st Reprint).

Senate Bill 72 (1st Reprint): Authorizes a registered pharmacist or a registered
intern pharmacist to perform certain screening tests. (BDR 54-376)

Assemblyman Joseph P. Hardy, Clark County Assembly District No. 20:

Senate Bill 72 (1st Reprint) would allow a registered pharmacist and a registered
intern pharmacist to perform a "finger stick”™ blood sugar test that would be
approved by the Food and Drug Administration. From a physicians view, the
more opportunities we have for people to get information on their own health,
the better off they would be. The pharmacist ends up being the one to explain
to the patient how to use the blood monitoring kit. There are things the
pharmacist would know in order to teach people how to use the kit; therefore,
the pharmacist would be in an excellent position to also check a blood sugar
level. When the pharmacist does this kind of thing, he is not in the position of
making a diagnosis as much as informing the person and having the person
follow up with his physician. Nurses and nursing students are already doing this
kind of thing.

Chairman Conklin:
Are there any questions from the Committee?
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Assemblyman Horne:
Was there discussion in the Senate about people using pharmacists on a regular
basis to test themselves?

Assemblyman Hardy:

If you try to get someone into a position of medical care, they can access it
in different ways. Someone could do that. The bottom line is that the
pharmacist is in an excellent position to counsel the people. Pharmacies are
very interactive now. It is a good place to be.

Chairman Conklin:
Are there any questions from the Committee?

Bryan Gresch, representing University of Southern Nevada, Henderson, Nevada:
We have been working with Senator Cegavske on this bill throughout its
progress.

Dr. Renee Coffman, Dean, University of Southern Nevada College of Pharmacy,
Henderson, Nevada:

| am testifying in support of this legislation. | brought a monitor with me today.
It is not an extensive test, but it is a test that patients with diabetes are
counseled to use on a daily basis. As this legislation indicates, pharmacists
have not been able to help their clients because the law prohibits them from
performing this blood glucose test. If enacted, this legislation would allow
Nevada to join 47 other states in allowing pharmacists to perform this very
simple monitoring test. It would also allow pharmacists to join nurses, nursing
students, emergency medical technicians, and other healthcare professionals
who are able to perform this test on patients. It does not allow a pharmacist to
render a diagnosis of diabetes.

There are no treatment guidelines that | am aware of that would provide for a
diagnosis of diabetes from one random finger stick blood glucose test alone.
The probable outcomes are that as patients get tested, they will be referred to
physicians for diagnosis or to make sure that their treatment is working
effectively. Monitors are purchased at pharmacies, so it is appropriate for
pharmacists to demonstrate to patients how to use the monitor appropriately.
The biggest things with diabetic patients in terms of positive outcomes are early
diagnosis and follow-up to be sure treatment plans are working. By doing so, it
allows you to avoid a lot of the more serious complications of the disease
including blindness, nerve disease, amputations, and kidney disease.
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Chairman Conklin:
Are there any questions from the Committee? There are none. Is there anyone
to speak in support of S.B. 72 (R1)?

Elizabeth MacMenamin, representing the Retail Association of Nevada,
Carson City, Nevada:

We have supported this legislation from the onset. We believe that this is

another duty that the pharmacists will be able to perform. They are not looking

to diagnose but to help the patient and go further than they have been able to in

the past.

Chairman Conklin:
Are there any questions from the Committee? There are none.

Chris Ferrari, representing the National Kidney Foundation of Northern
California/Northern Nevada, Reno, Nevada:

We are here in support of S.B. 72 (R1). There is a letter in your packet written
by Christopher S. Kelley (Exhibit C) indicating that support. We believe this will
help pharmacists perform preliminary blood glucose monitoring and help
thousands of Nevadans who are at risk for diabetes and its complications to
learn about their risk status. Blood glucose monitoring combined with physician
directed treatment can help limit serious health issues.

Chairman Conklin:
Are there any questions from the Committee? There are none. Are there others
in support?

Senator Barbara K. Cegavske, Clark County Senatorial District No. 8:
| thank you for your time and consideration of this bill.

Chairman Conklin:

Are there any questions from the Committee? There are none. Is there anyone
else wishing to get on the record in support? Is there anyone opposed to this
bill? Is there anyone to speak from the neutral position? We will close the
hearing on S.B. 72 (R1). Let us turn our attention to the work session
document on Senate Bill 49 (1st Reprint).
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Senate Bill 49 (1st Reprint): Creates a requirement for a written contract
between a client and an architect, registered interior designer or
residential designer under certain circumstances. (BDR 54-353)

Dave Ziegler, Committee Policy Analyst:
[Read from Work Session Document (Exhibit D).]

Chairman Conklin:
Are there any questions from the Committee? There are none.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN  MCCLAIN  MOVED TO DO PASS
SENATE BILL 49 (R1).

ASSEMBLYMAN ANDERSON SECONDED THE MOTION.
Are there any questions or concerns?

THE MOTION PASSED. (ASSEMBLYMEN BUCKLEY,
CHRISTENSEN, AND OCEGUERA WERE ABSENT FOR THE VOTE.)

Chairman Conklin:
We will move to Senate Bill 91.

Senate Bill 91: Revises provisions governing architects, interior designers and
residential designers. (BDR 54-351)

Dave Ziegler, Committee Policy Analyst:
[Read from Work Session Document (Exhibit E).]

Chairman Conklin:
Are there any thoughts from the Committee?

ASSEMBLYMAN  SETTELMEYER MOVED TO DO PASS
SENATE BILL 91.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN MCCLAIN SECONDED THE MOTION.
Are there any questions or discussion?

THE  MOTION  PASSED. (ASSEMBLYMEN  BUCKLEY,
CHRISTENSEN, AND OCEGUERA WERE ABSENT FOR THE VOTE.)
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Chairman Conklin:
We will take up Senate Bill 129.

Senate Bill 129: Revises provisions governing continuing education for dentists
and dental hygienists. (BDR 54-769)

Dave Ziegler, Committee Policy Analyst:
[Read from Work Session Document (Exhibit F).]

Chairman Conklin:
Are there any questions or concerns from the Committee? There are none.

ASSEMBLYMAN ANDERSON MOVED TO DO PASS
SENATE BILL 129.

ASSEMBLYMAN MANENDO SECONDED THE MOTION.
Are there any questions or comments? There are none.

THE  MOTION  PASSED. (ASSEMBLYMEN  BUCKLEY,
CHRISTENSEN, AND OCEGUERA WERE ABSENT FOR THE VOTE.)

We will open the work session on Senate Bill 335 (1st Reprint).

Senate Bill 335 (1st Reprint): Revises provisions regarding regulation of
accountants. (BDR 54-191)

Dave Ziegler, Committee Policy Analyst:
[Read from Work Session Document (Exhibit G).]

Chairman Conklin:
Are there any concerns from the Committee? There are none.

ASSEMBLYMAN ANDERSON MOVED TO DO PASS
SENATE BILL 335 (R1).

ASSEMBLYMAN OCEGUERA SECONDED THE MOTION.
Are there any questions? There are none.

THE MOTION PASSED. (ASSEMBLYMEN BUCKLEY AND
CHRISTENSEN WERE ABSENT FOR THE VOTE.)
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We will take up Senate Bill 339 (1st Reprint).

Senate Bill 339 (1st Reprint): Requires the Colorado River Commission of
Nevada to review and analyze available information, studies and reports
to assess the feasibility of constructing a hydrokinetic generation project
below Hoover Dam. (BDR 58-1150)

Dave Ziegler, Committee Policy Analyst:
[Read from Work Session Document (Exhibit H).]

Chairman Conklin:
We heard from the bill sponsor's intern and the Colorado River Commission that
they wanted the opportunity to conduct this study in the interim.

Assemblywoman Kirkpatrick:
Who pays for it and how long is the study?

Chairman Conklin:
The testimony was that there would be no additional cost. It was just a request
to conduct a study over the interim and provide the results to us.

Assemblywoman Kirkpatrick:

| am not necessarily in support of this. | have had a difficult time getting
information from the Colorado River Commission. | would like to reserve my
right. | want to ask more questions. The way their board is set up, they hire
consultants and architects all of the time and | wonder where that money
comes from.

Chairman Conklin:
Would you like me to hold this bill so you can speak with the sponsor?

Assemblywoman McClain:
| would like to make a motion to do pass.

Assemblyman Anderson:
If Ms. Kirkpatrick is concerned, the Colorado River Commission would be more
willing to speak to her if we waited for a moment to pass the legislation.

Chairman Conklin:
It sounds like we have two people with questions, so | am not going to accept
the motion and will pull this bill back to the Committee.
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We will open the hearing on Senate Bill 168 (1st Reprint).

Senate Bill 168 (1st Reprint): Revises provisions relating to prescription drugs.
(BDR 54-1011)

Senator Terry John Care, Clark County Senatorial District No. 7:

Every session we get many requests for legislation, but every once in a while
we get a request from just plain folks. Teri Braegelmann will tell her story
which involves the tragic death of her son. | thought maybe there is something
we can do to prevent this from happening again. That was the basis for the bill.
The Committee has the bill in its first reprint. It is all contained in section 1,
subsection 3, and says, "If a prescription filled by any practitioner requires
a boxed warning pursuant to 21 C.F.R. 8 201.57(c)(1), the label described
in subsection 1 must contain the warning...." | would like to have
Ms. Braegelmann tell her story.

Teri Braegelmann, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada:

| am here in support of S.B. 168 (R1) (Exhibit I). On June 1, 2007, my
22-year-old, Joshua, killed himself by shooting himself in the head. This was an
irrational, impulsive act that might have been prevented had we received better
information about the effects of antidepressants on young adults the age of my
son. That information existed, but we did not know about it. There was no
note or any indication that he was going to take his life. Joshua took
antidepressants for approximately nine weeks prior to his suicide. In the weeks
after my son’s death, | was concerned about the medication | was taking for my
depression as my vision was becoming increasingly bleary. | decided to look
into the possibility of this being a side effect.

Upon reading the medication guide, | discovered the "black box warning." The
Food and Drug Administration (FDA) directs that it be included in a prescription
package insert and contain the necessary information to prevent serious adverse
events which are essential in patient decision making and drug effectiveness. |
was shocked to find such serious risk-versus-benefit information pertaining to
young adults under the age of 25 tucked away in the box and probably never
read by most patients. Amazingly, there was no directive to this vital
information on my son's bottle of medication. My son's bottle of medication
said, "Take with food or milk and may cause dizziness." | equate the "black
box warning"” with information found after plane crashes. Unfortunately, the
plane has crashed for our family and for many others, given the statistics. My
son was never given the patient medication guide, and because of the lack of
this vital information, we, the family, never knew what to look for or the risk
involved until months after my son's death.
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Joshua exhibited all of the side effects listed in the medication guide as to
clinical worsening; however, the information came too late to assess or to
monitor him properly. It is hard to put into words the impact of the loss of my
son. Joshua was an identical twin and left behind his brother Aaron, who was,
and continues to be, impacted in his unique way. Losing my son in such a
tragic manner is haunting every second of every day.

In my packet is a map of the United States from the Office of Suicide
Prevention. On the second page it states that Nevada has the second highest
rate in the nation for suicide, which is double the national average. Suicide is
the sixth leading cause of death for Nevadans and the third leading cause for
youth ages 10 to 24 years. My second illustration, which is labeled 1B, is from
the Food and Drug Administration's website. It is an enlarged version of a
"black box warning.” The box at the top is the "black box warning™ for the
specific antidepressant which my son was taking. | have highlighted the part of
the warning which states, "Patients of all ages who are started on
antidepressant therapy should be monitored appropriately and observed closely
for clinical worsening, suicidality, or unusual changes in behavior.”" Families and
caregivers should be advised of the need for close observation and
communication with the prescriber.

| have included a letter from the Food and Drug Administration which is dated
May 2, 2007, less than a month before my son died. It warns about the
increased risks for suicidality among young adults ages 18 to 24 years old, and
mandates the pharmaceutical companies to update their "black box warnings"
for the increased risk of suicidality. This research is ongoing.

In the packet, there is a portion of a transcript from a meeting presided over by
Associate Director Dr. Paul Seligman in Washington, D.C., which is dated
Tuesday, June 12, 2007. | read the entire 287-page transcript dealing with
problems with patient medication guides. In the second paragraph on page 14
it says:

On the other end of the spectrum, we are also aware that
sometimes medication guides are not getting into the hands of
patients as intended. A 2004 FDA study of 5,000 randomly
selected pharmacists examining their knowledge of risk
minimization tools, found that 29 percent of the pharmacists were
not familiar with medication guides.

In December 2005, in this very room, the FDA held a meeting on
risk communication and whether FDA materials were actually
finding their way to patients. Testimony and study results
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presented at that hearing documented circumstances where
medication guides were not being distributed. Comprehensibility
and ease of understanding of medication guides is essential to their
success. . . .

From 2003 to 2008, | was legal guardian over the person and estate of my
disabled mother who is now deceased. With all of my many meetings with her
caregivers and health professionals, | was never advised as to the "black box
warning,"” and she took several of the medications that contained the "black box
warning."

| have received and sent many letters regarding the issue to make warning
labels more prominent. The letter from Senator Harry Reid dated April 4, 2008,
stated:

You wrote specifically about antidepressant labeling. In 2005, the
FDA mandated a "black box" labeling change for antidepressant
drugs, warning that their use could increase the risk of suicide in
children and adolescents. In May of last year, the FDA ordered
pharmaceutical companies to update the black box warning about
an increased risk for young adults aged 18 to 24. The FDA defines
"labeling” as inclusive of all written, printed and graphic material
that may accompany a prescription. In the case of
antidepressants, the FDA directs that the "black box"™ warning be
inserted at the beginning of the prescription package insert.

| took note of your concern that many consumers may not be
aware of this warning, as well as your ideas about making such
labeling more prominent. While | am unaware of any legislation
currently pending in the 110th Congress to address this change,
please be assured that | will keep your thoughts in mind should |
have the opportunity to consider any related bills.

My son Joshua leaves behind a love for life and an identical twin brother with a
bond that baffles scientists and gives us a glimpse of the miracle of life. He
leaves behind a military career which he aspired to have; his one and only
girlfriend who he intended to marry; his love of animals; and his favorite pet, our
dog named Zimba. He leaves behind a large family which includes
four generations and hundreds of cousins who reside in our great state. We wiill
be looking to you, our legislators, for direction.
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| would like to speak not only as a parent but also as a consumer. In our state,
consumers are becoming more proactive in their own healthcare choices and
expectations to be informed. This is evident for every age group. When we
entrust our lives to professionals, we have a duty to give our input and our
insight related to our experiences especially when lives are at risk. | have great
concern about our many veterans returning from war, as a vast majority fall into
this 18 to 24 age group, and many will be taking these medications. We have a
duty to ensure that we give them our best as they have sacrificed so much.
Sharing my tragedy today was not an easy endeavor for me. Losing my son is
the most difficult thing | imagine | will ever endure. It is my hope that another
adult patient caregiver or parent will receive the tools necessary to make an
informed decision regarding their medication.

Chairman Conklin:

On behalf of the Committee, we appreciate your testimony and are deeply
saddened by your loss. Are there any questions from the Committee? There
are none.

Senator Maggie Carlton, Clark County Senatorial District No. 2:

The Senate Commerce and Labor Committee amended the bill. We heard a
number of concerns about the technical difficulties there would be in the original
bill about age and colors of labels and other issues like that. We took those to
heart after hearing the testimony that you just heard and the statement of an
expectation to be informed, and came up with the reprint that you have before
you. The only opposition we had in the Senate was from the Retail Association
of Nevada. There are others in opposition now, but they did not express that
opposition in the Senate.

| see this as an issue of information. The label that is on the front of the
prescription bottle that sits on the kitchen counter, on the top of the
refrigerator, on the bathroom vanity, or on the nightstand is going to have a
warning on it. It is going to let everyone who comes in contact with that bottle
know that this drug may have some very serious side effects. Information is
power when it comes to pharmaceuticals. When you get a "black box warning"
now, it is a pamphlet that is in the bag. What do you do when you go home?
You walk into the kitchen, you pull the bottle out, and the bag goes in the trash.
If it is not a new prescription, most people will pull the other stuff out of the
bag, give it a cursory glance, and then it is gone. The other people in the
household have no idea of the serious nature of the drug. | do not think we are
talking about an unreasonable expectation of information for the consumer of
the drug and everyone else who is in the household.
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The pharmacy my family uses has come up with a label that shows typed
warnings on the bottle. | see no undue impact to the pharmacies and the
people who deal with this to have their computer type on the label that this is a
"black box" drug—beware. | think it would serve everyone in the family due
notice that they need to pay attention. It will give them the idea that the drug
is dangerous.

Chairman Conklin:
Are there any questions from the Committee?

Assemblyman Settelmeyer:

The worst part about suicides is the second guessing by the survivors. Have
other states considered this? Some doctors worry that if a patient read the
entire packaging information, he might choose not to take the medication which
could be detrimental. Have other states found that it has done more harm than
good?

Senator Carlton:

| believe Nevada will be the first state to do this. Nevada could be number one
in something that | think is very important for our consumers. | do not think
that putting the warning on the bottle is anymore dangerous or anymore of a
deterrent to taking the drug than it would be to have the doctor describe the
drug or having a "black box warning" inserted into an envelope. | think there
are many stages of information, and | do not believe that argument would apply
only to the labeling on the bottle. | think that argument applies to the moment
the doctor has the discussion with the patient to take the drug.

Assemblyman Horne:

Was there testimony in the Senate on the standard operating procedure when
these drugs are prescribed? | do not know what drugs fall into this black box
category, but when | had my knee replacement and my physician prescribed
OxyContin, he explained exactly what it was and what the dangers of taking it
were. When | got it at the pharmacy, the pharmacist explained it to me again,
and this was in addition to the label page in the prescription. Is that standard
operating procedure?

Senator Carlton:

| think the only discussion on that issue is basically the prescription part of it.
You said they reviewed it with you, but did anyone else in your household have
the same information that you had? | think that is what this is getting to. | will
look over my notes and refresh my memory on the standard operating
procedures. | do not remember having any medical professionals in opposition
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to the bill, but I will pull the file on that. The goal is to have everyone in the
household know about the drug.

Assemblyman Horne:

| guess it begs the question about the extent of knowledge that everyone in
your household should have on your medication. There may be things that
adults would not want their children to know about their medications. Are we
moving into an area where we are requiring everyone in your household to know
everything about your medication, beyond the fact that you are taking it?

Senator Carlton:

No, that is not what | meant. This is purely an informational thing. If you have
someone who is suffering from some type of mental illness or another condition,
who may be prescribed a drug that could be dangerous, they may not be the
person who can make the rational decision to share the information with their
family. By having this warning on the bottle, it would allow the other family
members to know that this is a black box drug, and has been designated by the
FDA to have serious side effects. You may want to investigate a little further
and watch your loved one a little more closely so that if something did arise, the
family can be more aware. The original pamphlet may have been thrown away.
This is just a warning to say "pay attention."

Assemblyman Anderson:

One of the questions that has come up since the bill came from the Senate is
the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA) rules.
| am well aware of the disclosure documents. How do we balance the
responsibility of the individual versus the other members of the family? | want
to keep my medical condition private. | may share it with one member of the
family, but not the entire family. By proceeding in this fashion, are we
potentially doing more harm than good? We want people to get the medical
help they need. By putting this label on the bottle, will that open to others
information that we do not want them to know about our overall condition?

Senator Carlton:

When we look at the system as a whole, the warning is already going in the bag
and could be available if you leave it sitting out. The goal behind doing this was
to let the other family members know. If there is something you would not
want known, you would put it where they could not see it, but hopefully one
person would know. | know it is hard to balance, but when you are dealing
with a drug that has such significant side effects, allowing the people around
you to know that something may go wrong is important.
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Assemblyman Anderson:
It is a difficult issue.

Senator Carlton:
We struggled with it, but we all felt the need to do something. This is what we
thought was the best information to get to the public and to protect the public.

Assemblyman Anderson:
Did the HIPAA question come up on the other side?

Senator Carlton:

| cannot say whether it did because the hearing was so long ago. | would not
want to misrepresent it. If this "black box warning"” pamphlet is going in the
bag, | see the notation on the label being not different from the bag. It is still
information that is being shared in print.

Assemblyman Anderson:

That is the relationship between the patient, the pharmacist, and his doctor.
The patient usually gets to choose with whom he wishes to share the
information. We are concerned about the laws relative to HIPAA and making
sure that your health information is not public even though the warning is in the
bag.

Senator Carlton:

When | was trying to find a good balance | looked at the other warnings. It is
going to have the name of the drug and the dosage on it. It is not going to
have what you have it for. On the warning label it is going to say, "take with
food or drink, do not drink, do not operate heavy machinery, pay attention to
this drug.” | see it as a simple warning. It does not say why you are taking the
drug. It just says this is a serious drug.

Assemblywoman Kirkpatrick:
| get information when my adult children go to the doctor because they are on
my insurance. | am curious about what happened with Ms. Braegelmann.

Teri Braegelmann:

My son lived at home. He was not on my insurance. He was an adult, and |
was not privileged to know his diagnosis until | received his medical records as
the administrator of his probate. However, | think the warning on the
prescription bottle is important for the patient. | was a patient on
antidepressants after my son died and did not know about the "black box
warning.” My son disclosed that he was taking the medication. When he was
experiencing clinical worsening, that information would have been vital and, in



Assembly Committee on Commerce and Labor
May 1, 2009
Page 16

my opinion, could have prevented his death or at least would have given me
important information to assess and monitor him. That information is directed
to the family members and caregivers in the "black box warning”. | had no
directive when | looked at his bottle of medicine that such serious side effects
existed.

Assemblywoman Gansert:
Senator Carlton, are you thinking the entire black box should be on the
prescription bottle or just the warning?

Senator Carlton:

If you look in the reprint, we are talking about saying, "warning: review black
box warning information or black box warning." It is just saying this is a "black
box drug,” review the warning. We just want them to know there is a "black
box warning" and to investigate further.

Assemblywoman Gansert:

| am concerned about the confidentiality. Will people understand what a black
box warning means? | know you are trying to make it generic so people know
they need to be concerned and follow it. The number of words you put on the
bottle needs to be limited, and people need to know to look.

Chairman Conklin:
Are there any questions from the Committee? There are none.

Senator Carlton:

If the Committee is uncomfortable with the wordiness of the warning and
comes up with a more abbreviated version, that would be acceptable. We want
to make sure people get the information.

Chairman Conklin:
Are there any additional questions? There are none. Is there anyone else to
testify in support? Is there anyone to testify in opposition to S.B. 168 (R1)?

Elizabeth MacMenamin, representing the Retail Association of Nevada,
Carson City, Nevada:
| understand the feelings this mother brings to the table. However, in the
Senate | discussed our concerns with this legislation. Our first concern is
confidentiality and HIPAA regulations. Adult patients are not required to let you
know what medications they are taking. The "black box warning," or the "box
warning" as the FDA corrected me, was never intended for consumers. The
information for the consumer came from the prescriber and from the
pharmacist. If you look at the actual "box warning" that the FDA provides, it is
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meant for a physician or a pharmacist. Most people would not understand the
wording in the "box warning.”" It was never intended for that. | spoke to the
FDA within the last couple of days and was informed that they would be happy
to talk to the Chairman of the Committee.

There is a study at the Institute of Medicine being done on the standardization
of medical labels. We are talking about complicating the prescription bottle in
Nevada with more information while the federal government and the Institute of
Medicine are looking at ways to standardize it. In the information | gave you

(Exhibit J) on page 4 it says:

Why is a standardized label needed? Clearly, one reason is to
increase patient understanding. Another reason is because of the
inconsistency across states in the information on the prescription
drug label.

Chairman Conklin:
Is the "box warning” in your handout what is typically provided in the
prescription information?

Elizabeth MacMenamin:

This is not what is provided to the patient. What is provided is clear concise
language that the FDA has determined that you need to have to understand the
drugs that you get. For the over 400 drugs that come under this classification,
there is a specific piece of paper that is issued from the pharmacy to the
patient. It is not in this language, but it is in layman's language. If the patient
chooses to share that information with family members or whoever, it is up to
him.

Chairman Conklin:
Who gets this document?

Elizabeth MacMenamin:

This is for the physician and the pharmacist to understand that with the drug
that they are considering to prescribe, they need to spend time with the patient,
and counsel the patient on risk. That is one of the issues we talked about. We
want to make sure the doctors and pharmacists are doing counseling. In the
State of Nevada, pharmacists have one of the best counseling laws in the
United States. They document that they have counseled the patients. The only
loophole that we might look at is to make sure the doctor has counseled the
patient on